

ISSUE PAPER • October 2017



The True Size of Government

TRACKING WASHINGTON'S BLENDED WORKFORCE, 1984–2015

Paul C. Light



The True Size of Government

TRACKING WASHINGTON'S BLENDED WORKFORCE, 1984–2015

> Paul C. Light New York University

NEW YORK • 2017

The analysis and conclusions contained in this paper are those of the author and should not be interpreted as reflecting the position of the Volcker Alliance, the Alliance board of directors, or the staff of the Alliance. Any errors and omissions are the responsibility of the author.

© 2017 VOLCKER ALLIANCE INC. Printed October 2017

The Volcker Alliance Inc. hereby grants a worldwide, royalty-free, non-sublicensable, non-exclusive license to download and distribute the Volcker Alliance paper titled The *True Size of Government: Tracking Washington's Blended Workforce*, 1984–2015 (the "Paper") for non-commercial purposes only, provided that the Paper's copyright notice and this legend are included on all copies.

Don Besom, art director; Michele Arboit and Linda Ireland, copy editors; Robert Neubecker, cover illustration.

JUST HOW BIG SHOULD THE US GOVERNMENT BE to best fulfill its tremendous mandate? This question has engaged researchers and citizens alike since our nation was founded. It is a topic often debated and hotly contested. For many, the response hinges on what they expect from government—and influences on which side of the political aisle they decide to sit. Yet, as Paul C. Light, the Paulette Goddard Professor of Public Service at New York University's Wagner School of Public Service, shows in this rigorous and fascinating study, it is a surprisingly difficult question to answer.

Beyond the very important concerns about the scope of government's responsibilities, one is also faced with the challenge of accurately calculating and agreeing upon the actual size of the federal government at any given time. Light effectively demonstrates the ebb and flow of the "blended workforce" since 1984 and explains the reasons behind the periods of growth and decline. Beyond the sheer numbers, his research importantly leads us to question how people working under the aegis of the federal government are selected, compensated, and managed. No matter one's political leanings, these are essential questions.

As American citizens, we need to insist that our government – whatever its size – function well. As Light so clearly demonstrates, consideration of the mechanisms used to employ its workforce will be essential to America's effort to build and maintain an effective government.

THOMAS W. ROSS

CONTENTS

TRACKING WASHINGTON'S BLENDED WORKFORCE	
THE TRUE SIZE OF GOVERNMENT	3
A BRIEF HISTORY OF WASHINGTON'S BLENDED WORKFORCE	
Ronald Reagan	4
George H. W. Bush	
Bill Clinton	
George W. Bush	
Barack Obama	
Donald Trump	
AN INVENTORY OF PRESSURES	
Five Demographic Pressures	
Five Bureaucratic Pressures	
Five Political Pressures	26
OPTIONS FOR REFORM	31
About the Alliance	33
About the Author	
Board of Directors	34
Staff of the Volcker Alliance	
Endnotes	36

AMERICA HAS RELIED ON A MIX of federal, contract, and grant employees to faithfully execute the laws since its first breath of independence in 1776. The number and mix of employees have changed over time, but Washington's blended workforce is still hard at work creating a more perfect union and securing the blessings of liberty that the preamble to the US Constitution promised more than two centuries ago.

Although Washington's blended workforce has an imperative role in the nation's success, it may have grown so large and poorly sorted that it has become a threat to the very liberty it protects. With seven to nine million employees, the federal government's blended workforce may have become too complicated and codependent to control. Most importantly, it may have become so complex that Congress and the president simply cannot know whether this blended workforce puts the right employees in the right place at the right price with the highest performance and fullest accountability.

TRACKING WASHINGTON'S BLENDED WORKFORCE

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

THIS PAPER PROVIDES AN UPDATE of my past headcounts of the true size of the federal government's blended workforce in the context of Dwight D. Eisenhower's 1961 farewell speech. Eisenhower not only added the term *military-industrial complex* to the national vocabulary in this address but also warned of the "potential for the disastrous rise of misplaced power" in "every city, every statehouse, every office of the federal government."¹

Eisenhower believed the military-industrial complex was a necessary weapon against a "hostile ideology global in scope, atheistic in character, ruthless in purpose, and insidious in method." He also understood that the complex was inevitable in an era of rising nuclear tensions. "We recognize the imperative need for this development," he said. "Yet we must not fail to comprehend its grave implications. Our toil, resources, and livelihood are all involved. So is the very structure of our society."²

Eisenhower might make the same argument about today's blended workforce of federal, contract, and grant employees. He might describe the true size of the domestic, nondefense workforce as just as "large," "immense," and "vast" as that of the military-industrial complex he described in 1951. He might even ask why his successors have often promised to cut the federal government down to size during their campaigns but have rarely mentioned the contract and grant workforce as part of the total. President Donald Trump ignored the true size of the blended workforce during the 2016 campaign when he promised to freeze federal

hiring as part of an attack on the "corruption and special interest collusion in Washington."³ He promised to cut the price of the F-35 Joint Strike Fighter and to cancel the order for a new Air Force One if the price did not come down, but he never mentioned the contract or grant workforce as part of his pledge to "drain the swamp" in Washington.⁴

However, as Figure 1 shows, more than seven million employees worked for the federal government when Trump announced his campaign for the presidency in 2015. The Defense Department still relied on the largest number of federal, contract, and grant employees of any single department, but the nondefense departments and agencies had the larger number of employees blended together. Some of these agencies must have had fewer contract and grant employees during the 1950s – after all, the departments of Energy, Homeland Security, Housing and Urban Development, and Transportation had not been created yet; the Education Department had not been carved off Health, Education, and Welfare; and the Veterans Administration had not been raised to cabinet status. Readers should note that Figure 1 excludes active - duty military personnel and US Postal Service employees, which together would add two million employees to the accounting.⁵

DEFENSE 3 million	NONDEFENSE 4.2 million											
				Er	Energy							
	Transportation	Homeland Security Treasury Interior		Homeland Security		Homeland Security		Justice	Agric	culture		
	Health and Human Services									HUD	Comm	ierce
											SS	A
					EPA	Sta	ate					
	Veterans Affairs				Labor							
	Veteralis Analis NASA	NASA	DOE	NSF	GSA	USAID						

FIGURE I: The Federal Government's Blended Workforce, 2015 (federal, contract, and grant employees)

THE TRUE SIZE OF GOVERNMENT

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

CONTRARY TO THOSE IN THE TRUMP ADMINISTRATION who have argued there was a "dramatic expansion in the federal workforce" during the Obama administration, the data presented in Tables 1 and 2 show that the number of federal, contract, and grant employees held steady from 1984 to 1994; dropped from 1995 to 1999; increased slightly between 1999 and 2002; surged to a record high between 2002 and 2010; then fell between 2010 and 2015.⁶ The end of the Cold War and subsequent defense downsizing generated the first period of decline, while the wars on terrorism and Obama's economic stimulus plan produced the long period of growth, and the unwinding of the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan and stimulus spend down spurred the second period of decline.⁷ What went up during war and economic stimulus fell when the wars and economic crises cooled.

Table 1 measures the true size of government by the total number of full-time-equivalent federal, contract, grant, Postal Service, and active-duty military personnel. Table 2 removes Postal Service and active-duty military personnel from the totals to measure the ratio of contract and grant employees to federal employees as a quick guide to the changing balance of the government's blended workforce. As Table 2 shows, the ratio was low and stable from 1984 to 2002, surged in 2005, reached a three-decade high point of 3.4 contract and grant employees for every 1 federal employee in 2010, then fell back toward the historical average in 2015.

Neither table contains jobs created in the wake of household spending by federal, contract, or grant employees. This induced employment may be a product of direct or indirect contracts and grants, but the sandwich makers, business executives, bank officers, and ticket takers who depend on the take-home income created by federal, contract, and grant employ-

					,				
TYPE OF EMPLOYEE	1984	1990	1993	1996	1999	2002	2005	2010	2015
FEDERAL EMPLOYEES	2,083,000	2,174,000	2,139,000	1,891,000	1,778,000	1,756,000	1,830,000	2,128,000	2,042,000
CONTRACT EMPLOYEES	3,666,000	3,427,000	3,245,000	3,042,000	2,398,000	2,791,000	3,882,000	4,845,000	3,702,000
GRANT EMPLOYEES	1,234,000	1,352,000	1,344,000	1,351,000	1,415,000	1,236,000	1,578,000	2,344,000	1,583,000
ACTIVE-DUTY MILITARY PERSONNEL	2,138,000	2,044,000	1,705,000	1,472,000	1,386,000	1,412,000	1,518,000	1,384,000	1,315,000
POSTAL SERVICE EMPLOYEES	673,000	761,000	692,000	761,000	798,000	753,000	705,000	584,000	492,000
TOTAL	9,794,000	9,758,000	9,125,000	8,517,000	7,775,000	7,948,000	9,513,000	11,285,000	9,134,000



TYPE OF EMPLOYEE	1984	1990	1993	1996	1999	2002	2005	2010	2015
FEDERAL EMPLOYEES	2,083,000	2,174,000	2,139,000	1,891,000	1,778,000	1,756,000	1,830,000	2,128,000	2,042,000
CONTRACT + GRANT Employees	4,900,000	4,779,000	4,589,000	4,393,000	3,813,000	4,027,000	5,460,000	7,189,000	5,285,000
TOTAL	6,983,000	6,953,000	6,728,000	6,284,000	5,591,000	5,783,000	7,290,000	9,317,000	7,327,000
RATIO	2.4	2.2	2.2	2.3	2.1	2.3	3.0	3.4	2.6

TABLE 2: The Blended Workforce Ratios, 1984-2015

FIGURE 2: Number of Federal, Contract, and Grant Employees (in millions)



ees cannot be considered federal employees of any kind. Stripped of induced employment, the estimates presented in Table 1 and 2 provide an apples-to-apples comparison of the true size and blend of the federal government's workforce.

A BRIEF HISTORY OF WASHINGTON'S BLENDED WORKFORCE

WASHINGTON'S BLENDED WORKFORCE does not expand and contract by accident, but presidents may have less control over its size than they believe. As the following history strongly suggests, war and peace play a much more important role in shaping the true size of the federal government's blended workforce than grand announcements of caps, cuts, and freezes on federal hiring. Presidents can and do affect the pace of growth and decline, however, and almost always take aim at big government even when they intend to expand it. The following pages discuss this history by administration over the past four decades.

Ronald Reagan

The third year of Ronald Reagan's administration provides the starting point for a contempo-

4

rary history of Washington's blended workforce. As Table 1 shows, the total number of federal contract, grant, military, and Postal Service employees reached almost 10 million in 1984, as Reagan approached the midpoint of his administration, and had barely changed by 1990. Although the ranks of federal, Postal Service, and grant employees had risen, the number of active-duty military personnel and contract employees had fallen as the post–Cold War demobilization began.⁸

As Table 2 shows, the ratio of federal employees to contract and grant employees was relatively steady from 1984 to 2002; surged from 2002 to 2005 as US troops, defense contract employees, and a small number of grant employees were sent to Iraq and Afghanistan; surged again after Obama launched his \$830 billion grant-filled stimulus plan in 2009; and had dropped back to historic trends by 2015. Setting aside the 2005 and 2010 increases as the result of war and economic calamity, the ratios have been remarkably stable over time. Although there is a floor on the industrial side of Washington's blended workforce, substantial numbers of contract and grant employees reside in a surge tank that rises and falls.

In a sense, there were two Reagans: the defense hawk and the budget cutter. Measured in constant dollars from 1981 to 1989, Reagan increased the defense budget by almost \$200 billion between 1981 and 1985 but cut the budget by about \$75 billion from 1985 to 1989. In doing so, Reagan proved that even a defense hawk can tame the defense budget without sacrificing readiness. According to the Center for American Progress, almost 90 percent of his cuts came from the defense procurement budget, which dropped from \$170 billion in 1985 to \$121 billion in 1989.⁹ Reagan approved a small reduction in the number of active-duty military personnel and began the downsizing that eventually reduced defense civilian employment by a third.¹⁰

George H. W. Bush

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

President George H. W. Bush separated himself from his predecessor's rhetoric during the 1988 Republican campaign by promising a "kinder, gentler nation," "a thousand points of light," and a positive role for government. "Does government have a place?" he asked. "Yes. Government is part of the nation of communities—not the whole, just a part. I do not hate government. A government that remembers that the people are its master is a good and needed thing."¹¹

Bush also issued the audacious pledge that would eventually doom his reelection. "The Congress will push me to raise taxes, and I'll say no," he promised the party faithful. "And they'll push, and I'll say no, and they'll push again, and I'll say to them, 'Read my lips: no new taxes?"¹²

5 -

However, Bush already knew that he could not honor his "no new taxes" pledge unless he balanced the federal budget. He also knew that spending cuts and government downsizing offered the only path to success. Yet, given his commitment to public service as "a noble calling and a public trust," Bush seemed reluctant to impose new caps, cuts, and freezes.¹³ The post– Cold War peace dividend offered the only path to scaling back Washington's blended workforce.

Bush decided to reap the dividend with a 25 percent drawdown in active-duty military personnel and an equal cut in defense spending. He put the cuts on the implementation track immediately after his inauguration in 1989.¹⁴ He placed a one-year freeze on military spend-ing in 1989, began withdrawing forces from Europe to "more appropriate levels" in 1990, negotiated a nuclear weapons treaty with Russia in 1991, and put more cuts "in train" in 1992.

Bill Clinton

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

The peace dividend was ready for further harvesting when Bill Clinton took office on January 20, 1993, and he began the work immediately with a White House hiring freeze and a 100,000-person cut in the number of federal employees. Clinton expanded the effort by asking Congress to give him the authority to increase the cut to 273,000 under the Federal Workforce Restructuring Act of 1994. Clinton signed the bill only one year into his presidency but claimed victory in his battle against big government:

After all the rhetoric about cutting the size and cost of government, our administration has done the hard work and made the tough choices. I believe the economy will be stronger, and the lives of middle-class people will be better, as we drive down the deficit with legislation like this. We can maintain and expand our recovery so long as we keep faith with deficit reduction and sensible, fair policies like this.¹⁵

Clinton claimed credit for this harvest, but Vice President Al Gore did the hard work through his National Performance Review, commonly referred to as "reinventing government."¹⁶ Gore and his reinventors used the employment ceilings embedded in the Workforce Restructuring Act to press for maximum cuts; accelerated the procurement process ordered by the Federal Acquisition Streamlining Act of 1994; targeted 200 military installations for closure under the Base Closure and Realignment Act; demanded performance plans from every department and agency under the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993; and eliminated the equivalent of 640,000 pages of agency rules under the regulatory planning process created by executive order.¹⁷

George W. Bush

George W. Bush entered the White House a most fortunate president. He inherited not only a \$128 billion surplus but a blended workforce headcount that was 600,000 smaller than George H. W. Bush's had been at the end of his term. He had room to maneuver as he entered office after an economic boom under Clinton.

Bush showed little interest in further downsizing as he prepared for his inauguration. Clinton had already harvested most of the peace dividend, represented in the smallest blended workforce headcount in recent history. By the end of his presidency, the total number of federal, contract, and grant employees hovered near a twenty-year low, and Washington's blended workforce seemed to be moving toward the proper meshing.¹⁸

Bush did not enter office expecting to become a war president. He was as shocked as the nation by the terrorist attacks, and he could not have known that he would send US troops to war in Iraq or that defense spending would rise 30 percent over his first three budgets. Having started with Clinton's defense cuts, Bush pushed defense spending to \$450 billion in 2002, \$492 billion in 2003, and \$531 billion in 2004—almost all in response to 9/11. Nondefense spending would rise almost 18 percent during the same period as he pursued several relatively expensive domestic priorities, including the Transportation Security Administration, a new farm bill, education reforms, and Medicare prescription drug coverage.¹⁹

As went the defense budget, so went the blended workforce headcount. The Bush administration added almost 1.4 million contract and grant employees to Washington's blended workforce just between 2002 and 2005. With that large increase, the percentage of contract and grant employees as a share of the blended workforce also grew significantly as the wars expanded. Whereas there were 2.3 contract and grant employees for every federal employee in 2002, the ratio was 3 to 1 in 2005.

Barack Obama

If George W. Bush had entered the White House a fortunate president, Barack Obama arrived at a most unfortunate time. The economy was reeling in the wake of the 2008 subprime mortgage crisis, the federal deficit was headed toward \$1.5 trillion with the debt rising quickly, and credit markets were frozen. The wars in Iraq and Afghanistan still raged. And three of Obama's cabinet nominees withdrew from consideration amid scandal or under political pressure. His honeymoon period seemed to be over before it began.

Obama showed no sign of worry on February 24, 2009, however, when he appeared

before Congress to deliver his economic recovery plan. After all, he already knew that he would receive a peace dividend by ending the 2008 troop surge that Bush had launched six months before the election. Obama cast the coming cuts as an opportunity to reshape government. Speaking to the University of Michigan's class of 2010, he rejected the traditional argument about big and small government: "The truth is, the debate we've had for decades now between more government and less government, it doesn't really fit the times in which we live. We know that too much government can stifle competition and deprive us of choice and burden us with debt."²⁰

Donald Trump

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

Donald Trump did not mention the government-industrial complex in any form during the 2016 campaign or his transition into office, but he did discuss each side of the complex separately.

On the industry side, he criticized Boeing for overpricing the new Air Force One: "Boeing is building a brand new 747 Air Force One for future presidents, but costs are out of control, more than \$4 billion. Cancel Order!" he tweeted on December 6, 2016.²¹ In another tweet on December 12, Trump targeted Lockheed Martin for overpricing the F-35 Joint Strike Fighter: "The F-35 program and cost is out of control. Billions of dollars can and will be saved on military (and other) purchases after January 20th."²² Lockheed stock fell 2 percent later that day and fell 1 percent after Trump repeated his commitment to cost savings in early January.

On the government side, his Contract with the American Voter listed a federal hiring freeze as a solution to "corruption and special interest collusion." As former Speaker of the House Newt Gingrich wrote at the time, the promise would reassure mainstream Republicans that Trump deserved their support:

Trump's Contract with the American Voter should also alleviate any concern among traditional Republicans that their party's candidate is somehow not Republican enough. The provisions in the Trump Contract would reduce the size and scope of government as much as any president in our lifetimes, including Ronald Reagan. Its ethics reforms and bureaucracy-cutting measures would significantly reduce the power of the executive branch Trump seeks to lead.²³

Even as Trump accused contract firms of price gouging, he blamed the federal government for waste, fraud, and abuse. Asked in a February 2016 debate how he would balance the federal budget, he blamed agencies. "Waste, fraud, and abuse all over the place," he answered, "Waste, fraud, and abuse. You look at what's happening with every agency—waste, fraud, and abuse. We will cut so much, your head will spin."24

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

Asked two weeks later how he would pay for his tax cuts, Trump again put the burden on government. "We're going to buy things for less money," he answered. "We will save \$300 billion a year if we properly negotiate. We don't do that. We don't negotiate. We don't negotiate anything."²⁵

THE FIRST 100 DAYS Trump followed through on his complaint on January 23, 2017, when he imposed a 90-day "across-the-board" freeze on civilian hiring.²⁶ He signed the order without remarks, but the administration framed the memorandum as a broad attack on big government. "Look, I think you saw this with the hiring freeze," the president's press secretary. Sean Spicer, explained later in the day. "There's been frankly, to some degree, a lack of respect for taxpayer dollars in this town for a long time, and I think what the president is showing through the hiring freeze, first and foremost today, is that we've got to respect the American taxpayer. They're sending us a ton of money; they're working real hard."²⁷

Though perfectly legal, the freeze exempted thousands of national security and public safety positions, and it had little effect on nondefense employment. Relatively few federal employees leave their posts in winter, and most of the vacancies were filled by an unknown number of service contract employees.²⁸ Brief though it was, the freeze created an atmosphere that one employee likened to the theme music in *Jaws*.²⁹

The uncertainty increased when Trump signed Executive Order 13781 in March. Designed to "improve the efficiency, effectiveness, and accountability of the executive branch," the order gave the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) authority to develop plans, as appropriate, to eliminate or merge whole agencies, pieces of agencies, or agency programs. The order also asked the OMB director to pose three broad questions about government performance:

- Whether some or all of the functions of an agency, a component, or a program are redundant, including with those of another agency, component, or program;
- 2. Whether certain administrative capabilities necessary for operating an agency, a component, or a program are redundant with those of another agency, component, or program; and
- 3. Whether the costs of continuing to operate an agency, a component, or a program are justified by the public benefits it provides.³⁰

The answers were not due for 180 days, but the future became clear when Trump released

his 2018 "skinny budget" on March 16. Although best described as a wish list of future priorities, the budget outline contained a \$54 billion increase in defense spending to honor the president's promise to make the military "so strong ... nobody's gonna mess with us," and a parallel cut in nondefense programs and agencies that included the State Department.

Congress would have to approve the proposals, but all things being equal transaction by transaction, the defense increase would almost certainly raise the number of contract and grant employees on the industry side of the federal workforce, while the domestic cuts would almost certainly reduce the number of federal employees on the government side.³¹ *Fortune* estimated that the cuts could eliminate 100,000 to 200,000 jobs, which former Clinton administration budget director Alice Rivlin described as "drastic layoffs that would be very hard to do very quickly."³² Stories about nervous, even terrified, federal employees hit the front pages again, but the effects on the total number of federal employees were ambiguous at best.

However, the administration made no secret about the depth of the cuts in what OMB Director Mike Mulvaney called the "America First Budget:"

The president's commitment to fiscal responsibility is historic. Not since early in President Reagan's first term have more tax dollars been saved and more government inefficiency and waste been targeted. Every corner of the federal budget is scrutinized, every program tested, every penny of taxpayer money watched over.³³

Mulvaney stretched the history-making timeline all the way back to George Washington when he later said the "skinny budget" would stop 240 years of organic growth in government: "The president of the United States has asked all of us in the executive branch to start from scratch, a literal blank piece of paper, and say, 'If you're going to rebuild the executive branch, what would it look like?'"³⁴

Finally, Mulvaney explained the president's decision to end his 90-day hiring freeze as a natural product of organizational learning:

So we're going from this sort of across-the-board hiring freeze. That's not unusual for any new management team to come in—to put into place when they come into an organization, whether it's the private sector or a government. Not unusual for a new management team to come in and say, look, stop hiring, let us figure out what's going on, we'll get acclimated and then we'll put into place something that's more practicable and smarter. And that's what this is. So you'll see this across-the-board ban tomorrow and replaced with a smarter approach.³⁵

REINVENTING GOVERNMENT? If there was any comfort for anxious federal employees in the budget messaging, it came in the president's statements in early March supporting a government that works better and costs less. "We are going to do more with less, and make the government lean and accountable to the people," Trump wrote in his budget message to Congress. "Many other government agencies and departments will also experience cuts. These cuts are sensible and rational. Every agency and department will be driven to achieve greater efficiency and to eliminate wasteful spending in carrying out their honorable service to the American people."³⁶

The president had not become a reinventor per se, but he did promise to do something "very, very special" to make government more efficient and "very, very productive."³⁷ In doing so, he even prompted some of Gore's reinventors to endorse the effort. As Elaine Kamarck, chief staffer to the former vice president, told *Politico* in March, "To give them credit, it's time to do it again. It is time to review the government again and ask the hard questions about what it's doing and what it should be doing. And it is time to focus on obsolete functions and getting rid of them."³⁸

Trump may have used reinventing's "works-better-and-costs-less" cadence, but his definition of a government that works better and costs less was a government that cost less because it was no longer working.

On the government side of the complex, for example, his 2018 budget targeted nondefense federal employees for deep reductions in force. The administration did not set a specific downsizing target, but it ordered all departments to identify opportunities for attrition-based workforce cuts. The budget also scheduled wholesale cuts in nondefense programs such as environmental protection and Medicaid.

On the industry side, the budget gave contract and grant employees cause for joy. It offered 40 percent more for defense operations and maintenance, 20 percent for research and development, and 6 percent for procurement. Meanwhile, the budget promised the Army, Navy, and Air Force increases of 55 percent, 49 percent, and 46 percent, respectively, for operations and maintenance; somewhat smaller increases for Air Force and Navy research and development; and 16 percent for Navy shipbuilding and conversion. These increases all promised large hikes in the contracting and grant workforce.³⁹

DECONSTRUCTING THE ADMINISTRATIVE STATE The number of nondefense federal employees could fall much further in subsequent years if Trump pursues his early plan to "deconstruct the administrative state." Conservatives commonly use the term to describe the wholesale dis-

11 -

mantling of the "deep state" that generates government growth and interference.

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

The president endorsed dismantling when he appointed Stephen Bannon to the White House staff. Bannon used his close ties to Trump's right-wing base to press for administrative and regulatory reform. Speaking at the Conservative Political Action Conference in late February 2017, he described deconstruction as the third "bucket" of the president's Americafirst agenda:

The third, broadly, line of work is deconstruction of the administration. ... If you look at these cabinet appointees, they were selected for a reason, and that is the deconstruction. The way the progressive left runs, is if they can't get it passed, they're just going to put in some sort of regulation in an agency. That's all going to be deconstructed, and I think that that's why this regulatory thing is so important.⁴⁰

Bannon had been forced out of the administration by August 2017, but his deconstruction agenda was widely shared by other senior officials, including Mulvaney and his team of budget cutters. Mulvaney did not use the term specifically, but he shared Bannon's concern when he described executive orders as a poor substitute for legislative success:

To the extent that we only do stuff within the executive branch—as with any executive orders—they can be overturned by the next administration if they see things differently. That's the way the executive order system works. And that if we wanted real permanent change, the best way to go about that would be to do legislative change.⁴¹

Trump had already started the deconstruction by using his pen to establish a travel ban on migrants from seven Muslim-majority countries; establish Regulatory Reform offices across the government; develop construction plans for a wall between Mexico and the US; create an Office of American Innovation—led by his son-in-law and White House aide, Jared Kushner; and require every department and agency to develop reorganization plans.⁴²

The president also encouraged Congress to use the obscure Congressional Review Act to roll back Obama's contracting orders.⁴³ Trump's first target was Executive Order 13673, which required contract bidders to disclose any labor law violations in the three-year period prior to the solicitation.⁴⁴ Federal contract officers were ordered to use the information to assess the bidder's record of integrity and business ethics; determine whether the violations were serious, willful, repeated and/or pervasive; and list the findings on the federal government's Awardee Performance and Integrity Information System for other departments and agencies

to use. Firms with violations could still bid for contracts, but the rule sent a clear warning that violations could matter in the final decision.

Trump had promised to revoke the so-called blacklisting rule during the campaign, and he welcomed business leaders to the Oval Office on March 27, 2017, when he sat down to sign the rollback:

When I met with manufacturers earlier this year—and they were having a hard time, believe me—they said this blacklisting rule was one of the greatest threats to growing American business and hiring more American workers. It was a disaster, they said. This rule made it too easy for trial lawyers to get rich by going after American companies and American workers who contract with the federal government—making it very difficult.⁴⁵

Democrats and labor unions did not agree. With the revocation bill already on the president's desk awaiting signature, Sen. Elizabeth Warren (D-MA) released a caustic report, *Breach of Contract: How Federal Contractors Fail American Workers on the Taxpayer's Dime*. Drawing on federal databases, congressional investigations, and the Federal Contractor Misconduct Database of the nonprofit Project for Government Oversight (POGO), the report concluded that "the violation of labor laws and abuse of workers by federal contractors is common, repetitive, and dangerous." While acknowledging that contract firms supported critical federal missions, Warren said they often did so by underpaying workers and putting health and safety at risk. She warned her colleagues that the risks would rise if contract firms took the rollback as permission to reduce employee protections even further.⁴⁶

Breach of Contract was too late to make a difference in Trump's decision or media coverage. As the president indicated at his signing ceremony, Obama's Fair Pay and Safe Workplaces rule was only the first of many rollbacks ahead: "I will keep working with Congress, with every agency, and most importantly, the American people, until we eliminate every unnecessary, harmful and job-killing regulation that we can find. We have a lot more coming."⁴⁷ He had inherited Obama's pen and intended to use it toward a very different end.

AN INVENTORY OF PRESSURES

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

MANY APPROPRIATE REASONS EXIST for using contract and grant employees to help execute the laws – not the least of which is the need for mission-critical skills – but convenience is not one of them. As the following discussion suggests, however, convenience may be the only available criterion given the demographic, bureaucratic, and political pressures that weaken the case for using federal employees. There is little opportunity for more thoughtful analysis in an antiquated federal personnel system. There's also continued ambiguity about the dividing line between functions so important to the public interest that they must be reserved for federal employees and those functions that are not inherently governmental and can be purchased more economically from a commercial source.⁴⁸

Five Demographic Pressures

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

Demographic change creates five pressures for pulling contract and grant employees across the dividing line from a commercial source: (1) the federal government's sluggish hiring process, (2) aging workforce, (3) high promotion speed, (4) inflated performance appraisals, and (5) easy access to the hidden bureaucratic pyramid of contract and grant employees who fill the mid- and lower-level jobs once held by federal employees.

I. Waiting for Arrival

There are many ways to measure the hiring delays, but time to hire is the simplest statistic. In theory, applicants should move from application to "onboarding" without delay. In reality, the federal government continues to impose time penalties at every step of the process.⁴⁹ Although the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) stopped publishing government-wide time-to-hire statistics when its priorities switched from hiring speed to candidate quality, the best available evidence suggests that the hiring process in the federal government is two to three times as long as that in colleges and universities, franchises, hospitals, and private and public companies.⁵⁰

The Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs took note of time and frustration when it moved its Federal Hiring Process Improvement Act to the floor in May 2010:

Those seeking federal employment have long faced an opaque, lengthy, and unnecessarily complex process that ultimately serves the interests of neither federal agencies nor those seeking to work for them. ... Weak recruiting, unin-telligible job announcements, onerous application requirements, an overly long hiring process, and poor communications with applicants deter potential candidates from applying and cause many of those who do apply to abandon the effort before a hiring decision is made.⁵¹

The Obama administration also took note of time when it launched the first of its three

hiring reforms in May 2010. "I understand the frustration of every applicant who previously has had to wade through the arcane Federal hiring process," said John Berry, the OPM director. "If qualified applicants want to serve our country through the Federal service, then our application process should facilitate that."⁵² The commitment was strong enough to persuade Congress to shelve the Senate's bill but not strong enough to move the federal hiring model from "post and pray" to "post and pursue."⁵³

Despite recent congressional hearings with hopeful goals such as Jobs, Jobs, Jobs: Transforming Federal Hiring and Uncle Sam Wants You: Recruitment in the Federal Government, comprehensive reform remains a distant goal. Even the federal government's ongoing overhaul of its sluggish one-stop hiring platform, USAJobs, is unlikely to have an impact if its "human-centered design" does not lead to good jobs.

At least for now, USAJobs is more a disappointment than a source of pride. As one expert told a Senate roundtable in 2016, "USAJobs has become home to a seething group of confused and angry job seekers and fulfills a main purpose for a limited set of people desperately seeking any kind of employment or those who don't really know what job they seek."⁵⁴ Other witnesses showed more respect toward the 11 million USAJobs account holders, as did *Washington Post* columnist Joe Davidson, but all agreed the system had to change.⁵⁵

2. Aging Upward

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

As the federal workforce continues to age, government is edging toward what experts have described as a "retirement tsunami" created by older federal employees. The percentage of younger federal employees has fallen in recent years, while that of older employees has risen. Though older employees have shown remarkable staying power during good times and bad, they are moving closer to retirement.

According to data collected by Jeff Neal, founder of ChiefHRO.com, the percentage of federal employees under 30 has been on a straight downward trend—from 11.4 percent in 2009 to 9.8 percent in 2012 and just 7.9 percent in 2015.⁵⁶ Translated into headcounts, the number of federal employees under 35 dropped from 230,000 to 160,000 during the period, while the number of federal employees over 60 rose from 225,000 to 278,000.⁵⁷ Expand the numbers to include all employees over 55 and these numbers soar from 380,000 in 2009 to 520,000 in 2015.

The 2003 National Commission on the Public Service, chaired by Paul A. Volcker, summarized the data as a classic catch-22:

As the government's experienced workers depart for retirement or more attrac-

15 -

tive work, it creates an opening for new energy and talent; yet the replacement streams are drying up. Left unchecked, these trends can lead to only one out-come: a significant drop in the capabilities of our public servants.⁵⁸

The retirement wave will also prompt employee shortages at the midlevels of government retirement, where so many contract and grant employees work. Service contract employees rarely reach the top of the federal hierarchy but often perform tasks that would have been reserved for younger federal employees as they moved up the chain of command toward more senior positions. Absent a steady pipeline of committed employees, federal managers and supervisors have little choice but to call for help. The employees who show up are often well-qualified for the work, but they cannot take higher-level posts without breaching the dividing line. They also create dependency that managers and supervisors cannot easily break.

3. Promotion Speed

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

Age is significantly related to federal pay grades—the longer employees stay, the more likely they are to advance up the federal government's fifteen pay grades and across the ten steps within each grade. Advancement from one step to the next is almost always automatic after one to three years on the job, while promotions up the ladder can be fast or slow depending on vacancies and the candidate's education, eligibility, and experience. As older employees move across the steps and up the ladder, they pull lower-level employees across and up, too.

Promotion speed can be used to battle employment caps, cuts, and freezes through backdoor pay increases but also can give federal employees the titles and prestige to stay put, despite the opportunity for higher-paying positions in contract or grant positions. As a former senior officer in the Officer of Personnel Management recently recalled, the movement of talented employees to contract and grant posts increased promotion speed as a retention strategy: "This pressure comes not only from employees but from management as well. Supervisors use constant upgrades as a retention strategy, especially for employees in technical and hard-to-fill positions."⁵⁹ Even if promotion speed is used to retain and reward the most talented employees, it weakens the chain of command and produces government failures, such as the failure to connect the dots that led to the 9/11 attacks and the sluggish response to Hurricane Katrina.⁶⁰ It also encourages the use of contract and grant employees to backfill vacated posts.

4. All Above Average

The federal performance appraisal system was designed to rate and reward employee contributions to department and agency goals. In theory, the system creates a "line of sight"

between what individual employees do and how their organizations perform. Although a small number of employees are covered by pass/fail systems, the vast majority are covered by a five-level system running from an "unacceptable" rating at the bottom to an "exceeds fully successful" rating at the top.⁶¹

In theory, the system would provide the guidance needed for disciplined reviews and maximum improvement. In reality, the guidance is so fuzzy and the discipline so weak that federal employees are almost all above average. In 2013, for example, a third of federal employees were rated as "outstanding," slightly more than a quarter as "exceeds fully successful," and almost two fifths as "fully successful."⁶² Many federal employees appear to view a "fully successful" rating as a sign of failure and an "outstanding" as an easy mark.

Even the federal government's prestigious Senior Executive Service (SES) has its own appraisal inflation. In 2013, 45 percent of SES members were ranked at the highest level of performance and another 44 percent were ranked just below.⁶³ Although the SES attracts many of the most talented employees in the world, its appraisal system is widely disparaged—even ridiculed—and suggests that performance ratings and actual performance are loosely coupled.

Many federal employees appear to share the assessment. According to the federal government's annual surveys of its employees, most understand what they have to do to be rated at different performance levels, but many doubt performance matters to pay or recognition. In 2016, for example, just 41 percent said awards depended on how well employees performed their jobs, 34 percent said differences in performance with their work units were recognized in a meaningful way, and 29 percent said steps were taken to deal with a poor performer who cannot or will not improve.

Federal employees are right to dispute the link between performance and discipline. They can be fired, but the process takes time, careful documentation, and persistence.⁶⁴ According to a 2015 analysis by the US Government Accountability Office (GAO), the process can take from 170 to 370 days, depending on the statutory authority used to support the dismissal. The process is much easier in the first few months of an employee's tenure but becomes more difficult as grade inflation takes hold.⁶⁵ "The civil service needs to find a way to do an honorable discharge," one federal human capital officer told the Partnership for Public Service in 2014. "More than hiring reform, we need firing reform. In that reform you need to one, address poor performers and two, address skills that become outdated from otherwise good performers. There are just simply way too many hoops."⁶⁶ Federal employees must be protected against harassment, discrimination, and political interference of the kind witnessed

early in the Trump administration, but they must all be accountable for their performance.⁶⁷

5. The Hidden Pyramid

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

Demography and history come together to reshape the federal hierarchy—employees grow older, missions expand and contract, personnel policies shift, new technologies emerge, and jobs evolve. The changes are easy to track with the number of technical, administrative, clerical, and blue-collar positions at any given point in history.

- In 1940, the federal hierarchy looked like a standard bureaucratic pyramid, with most employees at the bottom and a small number of supervisors, managers, and presidential appointees sorted in decreasing numbers above.
- By 1960, the federal hierarchy still looked like a pyramid, but the distance between the bottom and top was starting to increase as new layers of professional and technical employees arrive.
- By 1980, the federal hierarchy was changing from a pyramid to four-sided trapezoid, with roughly equal numbers of federal employees working at the bottom, middle, and top of the hierarchy.
- By 2000, the federal hierarchy looked like a pentagon, with more federal employees working at the middle and top than at the bottom.
- By 2040, the federal hierarchy could evolve into an oval if current trends continue.



FIGURE 3: The Changing Shape of Government

Public administration scholar Donald Kettl tracks this "upward creep" by average employee grade, which rose from 6.7 in 1960 to 10.3 in 2014, and attributes it to the federal mission and contracting out:

The big story overall is that federal employment has hovered around two million workers, but spending, after inflation, has risen sharply. The same number of federal employees is leveraging an ever-growing amount of money, ... This is

a direct result of the federal government's increasing use of proxies, as more of its work was done outside the federal government – and by the accelerating underinvestment in the people needed to do the work.⁶⁸

Kettl's trend line is an artifact of the rising number of service contract employees who now fill many of the midlevel and lower-level jobs once filled by federal employees. The federal hierarchy looks as if it is changing shape largely because contract and grant employees work in a hidden bureaucratic pyramid that hides the federal government's need for reform.

This is not to suggest that the federal government still employs large numbers of couriers and stenographers—those jobs are gone for good. However, the data suggest that the federal government still employees its fair share of lawnmowers, mapmakers, statisticians, accountants, repair specialists, and cafeteria workers. Their checks may not come directly from the Treasury, but they will help the federal government execute the laws until Silicon Valley invents an app for that.

The federal government may not know precisely how many employees work in this hidden pyramid, but it does know that millions of employees show up every day to do work once performed by federal employees. The decision to separate these employees from the federal headcount perpetuates the conceit that government can do more with less ad infinitum, and encourages departments and agencies to create their own systems for managing the workload. As the National Academy of Public Administration recently concluded, the absence of reform has produced chaos:

Among its many problems, the current civil service system is no longer a system. It is mired in often-arcane processes established after World War II, in the days before the Internet, interstate highways, or an interconnected global economy. Pursuit of those processes, many now largely obsolete, has become an end in itself, and compliance with them has tended to come at the expense of the missions they were supposed to support. As a result, the federal civil service system has become a non-system: agencies that have been able to break free from the constraints of the outmoded regulations and procedures have done so, with the indulgence of their congressional committees.⁶⁹

Five Bureaucratic Pressures

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

The federal government's bureaucratic routines create another five pressures for pulling contract and grant employees across the government-industrial dividing line: (1) skill gaps in

19 -

mission-critical occupations, (2) barriers to federal employee engagement, (3) apples-tooranges pay comparisons, (4) weakened internal oversight, and (5) the sluggish presidential appointments process.

I. Hollowing Out

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

Many of the demographic problems discussed above affect skill sets such as cybersecurity, telecommunications, acquisitions, information management, and even project planning. The GAO put the gap between demand and supply for mission-critical positions on its high-risk list in 2001.⁷⁰ According to the office, the cascade of human capital problems such as skill imbalances, understaffing, and grade inflation had finally crossed the threshold into a systemic crisis: "The combined effect of these challenges serves to place at risk the ability of agencies to efficiently, economically, and effectively accomplish their missions, manage critical programs, and adequately serve the American people both now and in the future."⁷¹

With due respect to the GAO's caution, its decision came more than a decade after Volcker and his first National Commission on the Public Service warned Congress and the president in 1989 about the "quiet crisis" at the intersection of declining student interest and retirement pressure:

Simply put, too many of the best of the nation's senior executives are ready to leave government, and not enough of its most talented young people are willing to join. This erosion in the attractiveness of public service at all levels—most specifically in the federal civil service—undermines the ability of government to respond effectively to the needs and aspirations of the American people, and ultimately damages the democratic process itself.⁷²

Now, after 30 years and another demand for action by a second Volcker Commission, most departments and agencies are still struggling to implement effective policy. Although the GAO applauded the government's commitment to action, it also noted that skill gaps were contributing causes to fifteen of the thirty-three other items on its high-risk list: "Regard-less of whether the shortfalls are in such government-wide occupations as cybersecurity and acquisitions, or in agency-specific occupations such as nurses at the Veterans Health Administration (VHA), skills gaps impede the federal government from cost-effectively serving the public and achieving results."⁷³ The collateral damage is almost certain to increase as federal retirements increase in coming years.

2. The Engagement Gap

Employee engagement is essential for high performance in any public service organi-

zation, be it governmental, nonprofit, educational, or the public-private partnerships that formed the centerpiece of the Trump administration's 2017 infrastructure plan. In turn, employee empowerment and the inspiration for change are the two major drivers of engagement. Employees must have confidence that their organization will provide them with the resources and opportunity to succeed.

OPM's 2016 Federal Employee Viewpoint Survey (FEVS) showed little of this confidence, however. Engagement did increase between 2013 and 2016, but by just one percent. The OPM director described the 2016 results as a sign of government's success in "empowering employees and inspiring change," but the 420,000 federal employees who took the survey expressed doubts about both goals.⁷⁴

Start with the FEVS questions about empowering employees. According to the survey, less than half of respondents were satisfied with the information they received from management (48 percent), had sufficient resources to do their jobs (47 percent), felt personally empowered with respect to work processes (45 percent), believed their organization recruited people with the right skills (43 percent), worked in units where employee performance was recognized in a meaningful way (34 percent), thought their work units took steps to deal with poor performers who could not or would not improve (29), and said pay raises depended on how well employees do their jobs (22 percent).

Turn next to the FEVS questions about inspiring change. According to the survey, less than half of respondents were recognized for providing high-quality products and services (48 percent), felt acknowledged for doing a good job (48 percent), were satisfied with the policies and practices of their senior leaders (42 percent), worked for leaders who generated high levels of motivation and commitment (41 percent), felt rewarded for their creativity and innovation (38 percent), believed they had the opportunity to get a better job in their organization (36 percent), and thought promotions were based on merit (32 percent).

Despite their concerns, the respondents were generally positive about their own performance on the job. Substantial majorities said they were ready to put in the extra effort to get the job done (92 percent), were held accountable for results (82 percent), were judged fairly on performance (70 percent), had a sense of personal accomplishment at work (72 percent), were satisfied with their jobs (66 percent), would recommend their organization as a good place to work (64 percent), and were encouraged to come up with new and better ways of doing things (58 percent). In a sentence, federal employees believe they create impact every day but that they must do so against the odds. These attitudes create a significant "engagement gap" between federal and private employees that led the Partnership for Public Service to declare an urgent need for progress on the work environment. According to the Partnership's analysis of the 2016 FEVS survey, engagement in the federal workplace trailed that in the private sector by an average of 13 percentage points on twenty-five key questions.⁷⁵

On the one hand, both groups of employees expressed similar levels of confidence in their opportunity to improve their skills, in their belief that performance appraisals were fair, in their access to information, and in their feeling of personal accomplishment. On the other hand, the private sector employees were more positive than federal employees on all twenty-five of the comparison questions, with particularly significant gaps on eight items:

- 1. I am satisfied with the training I receive for my present job: +11 percent
- 2. Supervisors in my work unit support employee development: +11 percent
- 3. I can disclose a suspected violation of any law, rule, or regulation without fear of reprisal: +16 percent
- 4. My workload is reasonable: +14 percent

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

- 5. I feel encouraged to come up with new and better ways of doing things: +20 percent
- 6. My talents are used well in the workplace: +22 percent
- 7. Awards in my work unit depend on how well employees perform their jobs: + 24 percent
- I have sufficient resources (for example, people, materials, budget) to get my job done: +24 percent

Private sector employees might not have had such fulsome praise for their organizations and leaders if they worked under the same stresses as federal employees. The federal mission is broad but sometimes poorly specified, the customer base is often divided, the board is almost perfectly designed to split, funding is taut, and political pressures are undeniable. The disparities help explain the empowerment denied and the change dismissed in government.

3. Compensation Versus Cost

Contract and grant employees are often promoted as a low-cost alternative to federal employees, but the data suggest quite the opposite. Federal employees may seem more expensive than contract and grant employees on average but may be much less expensive than contract employees when compared occupation by occupation.⁷⁶

POGO made this case in the 2011 report *Bad Business: Billions of Taxpayer Dollars Wasted on Hiring Contractors*. The research was designed to challenge the long-standing assumption that the federal government saves money when it hires contract employees in lieu of federal

employees. According to POGO's comparison of thirty-five occupations, including auditor, groundskeeper, statistician, and technical writer, the assumption is based on a false equivalency. POGO's data showed that federal employees had higher compensation in twenty-six of the occupations but that private sector employees cost more than federal workers in thirty-three of the thirty-five jobs.⁷⁷

The explanation is in billing rates, not paychecks: Contract employees are less expensive only until overhead – or indirect costs such as supplies, equipment, materials, and other costs of doing business – enter the equation. Add overhead to the totals, and contract employees can cost twice as much as federal employees. If the issue is how to reduce taxpayer burdens, federal employees were often the better option:

POGO's findings confirm the basic premise that government employees are *generally* compensated at a higher rate than private sector employees. However, in the 35 occupational classifications and 550 specific jobs POGO analyzed, reliance on contractor employees costs significantly more than having federal employees provide similar services. As a result, taxpayers are left paying the additional costs associated with corporate management, overhead, and profits that the government has no need to incur.⁷⁸

The conventional wisdom regarding the cost of contracting was not shaken. The contracting industry denied the findings and rebutted the methodology. The report was "a smear on industry" and based on the "irrelevance of averages," the Professional Services Council said.

POGO's conclusions are based on data purporting to show that "on average" contractors are more expensive than government performance of the same or similar work. Yet as a decision-making tool, averaging has little value or relevance since it offers no perspective or insight. Even if one assumes the baseline data is complete and accurate, all the POGO report shows is that sometimes contracting is more expensive than government performance and sometimes not. It does nothing to aid in the government's determination of where and how best to perform a given requirement.⁷⁹

The antiaveraging argument is particularly interesting given the enduring use of averages to promote contracting out. Writing for the libertarian Cato Institute in September 2017, Chris Edwards reported that federal employees averaged \$88,809 in wages during 2016, compared with private sector employees at \$59,458, and that federal employees had also received \$38,450 in benefits, compared with private sector employees at \$11,306. After referring to the government's "extremely high job security" as an additional benefit of federal employment, Edwards acknowledged that "federal pay should be reasonable, and we need competent people in federal jobs." However, he concluded that "an advantage of reducing federal pay would be to encourage greater turnover in the static federal workforce." He also argued that the openings might draw young people into government, but did not mention the potential effect of such turnover on federal skill gaps.⁸⁰

Edwards' averages suffered from many of the same complaints the contract industry made against the POGO report. According to the CBO's analysis of the same Census Bureau data, federal employees with no more than a high school diploma earned 21 percent more per hour on average than private sector employees with the same amount of education, while those with a bachelor's degree earned about the same per hour, and federal employees with a doctorate or professional degree earned 23 percent less on average.⁸¹

Averages may be the antonym of nuance but are often used to support federal hiring caps, cuts, and freezes. They also underpin head-to-head, dollar-to-dollar competitions between federal and contract teams to determine which can deliver the same goods and services at the lowest cost using the most-efficient organization possible. These competitions were used most recently by the George W. Bush administration to test its theory that any job listed in the "Yellow Pages" phone directory can be done at lower cost by contract employees.⁸² Federal employees won 83 percent of the tests, suggesting that they could do the jobs for less when given the opportunity to build a most-efficient organization.⁸³

4. Attention Deficits

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

The federal government's internal oversight offices are essential for policing the boundaries between government and industry while raising questions about who should do what for how much in faithfully executing the laws. These offices are rarely popular within their own departments and agencies but have generally been left to do their work, with minimal interference.

The Clinton administration was a notable exception. Convinced that oversight offices were the source of wasteful government, the administration opened the reinventing government campaign by promising deep budget and personnel cuts in the number of federal supervisors, personnel specialists, budget analysts, procurement specialists, accountants, and auditors.⁸⁴ "We called them the forces of micromanagement and distrust," one former reinventing official said. "We wanted to reduce the number of inspectors general, controllers, procurement officers and personnel specialists."⁸⁵ Another characterized the offices as part of a "fear industry" relying on "criticism and attacks to beat down employees or managers, and scare them into shape."⁸⁶

The reinventing campaign had a long list of targets but focused most heavily on the Offices of Inspector General (OIG). Congress created the first OIG in 1976 to unify the scattered audit and investigatory functions within the Department of Health, Education, and had created forty-two by the time Clinton entered office. The inspectors general used their broad investigatory authority to build impressive totals in what they called "funds put to bet-ter use" but also earned a reputation for padding their statistics with small-scale, "gotcha" investigations.⁸⁷

They also became a target for Gore:

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

When we blame the people and impose more controls, we make the systems worse. Over the past 15 years, for example, Congress has created within each agency an independent office of the inspector general. The idea was to root out fraud, waste, and abuse. The inspectors general have certainly uncovered important problems. But as we learned in conversation after conversation, they have so intimidated federal employees that many are now afraid to deviate even slightly from standard operating procedure.⁸⁸

Despite its general disparagement of the OIG concept, the Clinton administration gave more weight to audit and investigatory experience in appointing its inspectors general than the George W. Bush administration.⁸⁹ At the same time, the Clinton administration was much slower than the Reagan, George H.W. Bush, and George W. Bush administrations in filling its empty inspector general posts.⁹⁰

The OIG and other control offices were still under fire in 2015 when, for example, 32 percent of the inspectors general reported that their staffing levels had declined by 5 percent to 10 percent since 2012; 13 percent reported that their declines had exceeded 10 percent. The acquisition and oversight offices were also buffeted by the hiring delays cited earlier and were mentioned frequently as contributors to the GAO's high-risk list.

5. Nasty, Brutish, and Not at All Short

The delays caused by the presidential appointments process create incentives for outsourcing, including regular vacancies at the top. According to appointments expert Anne Joseph O'Connell, the top jobs in government are vacant between 15 percent and 25 percent of the time, creating enormous upset down the chain of command.⁹¹ Although second- and third-tier presidential appointees fill some high-level vacancies, career members of the SES are the default appointees. As such, these career officers are often the key policymakers in government.⁹²

Turnover is not the only source of vacancies. According to O'Connell, many presidential nominations are withdrawn, rejected, or dropped at some point in the confirmation process. Setting aside judicial nominations in her analysis of all presidential nominations sent to the Senate between 1981 and 2014, independent regulatory commission nominations had the highest failure rates at 31 percent; followed by White House agencies such as the OMB at 21 percent, executive agencies such as the Environmental Protection Agency at just over 20 percent, and cabinet departments at 19 percent. As for specific positions, general counsels and inspectors general were at 24 percent failure, compared with cabinet secretaries at 9 percent.⁹³

The long vacancies not only break the president's chain of command but can elevate senior executives and their assistants ever higher to fill and support empty positions in an acting capacity. "Given the political impact of presidential appointees on government policy and execution," presidential appointments expert G. Calvin Mackenzie writes, "one might imagine that the nomination and confirmation process would be tailored for efficiency and effectiveness. But it is actually a vast morass. ..."⁹⁴

O'Connell documents the case by counting the mean number of days between nomination and confirmation for the president's senior officers. According to her precise accounting, the interval has crept ever upward over the past five presidents, rising from just fifty-nine days under Reagan to 127 days under Obama.⁹⁵ Trump's interval is certain to increase even further.

Five Political Pressures

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

Despite the intense demographic and bureaucratic pressures discussed, five political pressures create even greater incentive to call contract and grant employees across the blended workforce dividing line and weaken the government's ability to make an intentional choice: (1) the thickening of the leadership hierarchy, (2) the need to protect government achievements and fix breakdowns, (3) public anger and frustration toward government, (4) political polarization, and (5) what Alexander Hamilton called the "most deadly adversaries of republican government."

I. Thickening Government

Just as demographic pressures can draw contract and grant employees across the government-industrial dividing line, so the past half-century has witnessed a slow but steady

thickening of the federal bureaucracy as Congress and presidents have added layer upon layer of political and career management to the leadership hierarchy. Whereas John F. Kennedy entered office in charge of seven cabinet departments in 1961, Donald Trump entered in charge of fifteen. Whereas Kennedy's cabinet departments had seventeen layers open for new leaders, Trump's had seventy-one. Finally, whereas Kennedy inherited 451 political or career positions ready for occupancy, Trump inherited 3,265.⁹⁶ From 1961 to 2016 the number of layers grew 750 percent, while the number of leaders per layer grew by 625 percent.

The thickening occurred in every cabinet department, although there are variations. For example, large, old departments such as Defense and Treasury had more layers and leaders in 2016 than small, new departments such as Commerce and Labor. Nevertheless, a remarkable variety of titles are open for occupancy across the entire cabinet, and the number of layers and leaders rose continually between 1960 and 2016.

Some of the titles may challenge credulity, but all seventy-one exist somewhere in the federal hierarchy. For example, the 2016 federal phone book listed an associate principal deputy assistant secretary at the Energy Department, an associate assistant deputy secretary at the Education Department, a principal deputy associate and a principal deputy assistant Attorney General at Justice, and an associate deputy assistant secretary at Veterans Affairs.

Trump seemed to recognize the potential costs of this thickening when he told *Fox* & *Friends* in early March 2017 that he did not want to fill many of the 600 high-level posts still open for occupancy:

Well, a lot of those jobs, I don't want to appoint, because they're unnecessary to have. You know we have so many people in government, even me, I look at some of the jobs and its people over people over people.... There are hundreds and hundreds of jobs that are totally unnecessary jobs.⁹⁷

Trump may have been right to question the need for so many jobs but was wrong to conclude that all the positions were unnecessary or could be eliminated at will. Some were created by statute; others were established through the federal government's highly formalized classification system, and still others came about by department memoranda.

Most important, those positions are hardwired into a bureaucratic process that links the top of the federal government to the bottom. Trump may have been tempted to leave the posts unfilled, but he could not know which ones were essential without further analysis. These connective positions link the heads of government to the career workforce that must execute the laws and executive actions. As of September 2017, his administration was not so

much headless as neckless.

2. Achievements and Breakdowns

Washington's blended workforce has contributed to many of the federal government's greatest achievements, such as building the Interstate Highway System, conducting the basic research to help reduce life-threatening disease, exploring space, and administering antipoverty programs. At other times, it has contributed to government breakdowns, including the veterans waiting list scandal; the Deepwater Horizon oil spill; the Challenger and Columbia shuttle disasters; the I-35W bridge collapse; the healthcare.gov launch; Edward Snowden's security breach; the Abu Ghraib prisoner abuse; the Southwest Airlines grounding; and the fertilizer explosion that destroyed West, Texas.

Paradoxically, both success and failure expand Washington's blended workforce. The easiest way Congress and the president can make grand achievements even grander is to call on the same contract and grant employees who helped create the successes in the first place. In turn, the most familiar way to repair a breakdown is to call on the same contract and grant employees who may have contributed to the breakdowns. Expertise is the coin of the realm for scaling achievements and fixing breakdowns, and contract and grant employees are often the ones who have the needed skills.⁹⁸

3. Anger and Frustration

Americans have long held seemingly irreconcilable opinions about the federal government and its employees. They seem to hate the federal bureaucracy, but they love its programs and services.⁹⁹

On the one hand, trust in the federal government has been tumbling since Americans rallied together after 9/11. In a Pew Research Center survey in 2015, only 19 percent of respondents said they trusted the federal government to do the right thing just about always or most of the time, versus almost 70 percent who said only some of the time or never. Four in five Americans also said they were either angry or frustrated about government, while three-quarters rated the federal government's performance in running its programs as only fair or poor. Majorities also said government was almost always wasteful and inefficient, needed major reform, and was doing too many things better left to individuals. Majorities also believed ordinary Americans could do a better job of solving the nation's problems than elected officials and said the government needs "very serious reform."¹⁰⁰

On the other hand, Americans said the federal government should play a major role in addressing almost every problem on the national agenda. Though they were less trusting

and more frustrated than they were in the early 2000s, they gave the government generally high marks on responding to natural disasters (79 percent said government was doing a good job); setting workplace standards (76 percent); keeping the country safe from terror (72 percent); and ensuring safe food and medicine (72 percent). In addition, despite giving the federal government much lower marks on managing the immigration system (22 percent), helping people out of poverty (36 percent), ensuring basic income for older Americans (48 percent), and strengthening the economy (51 percent), they wanted it to play a major role in resolving those issues.¹⁰¹

Moreover, respondents also expressed positive views toward most departments and agencies in Pew's 2015 survey. The top ten were the Postal Service, with an 84 percent favorable rating; the National Park Service (75 percent); Centers for Disease Control (71 percent); NASA (70 percent); FBI (70 percent); Homeland Security (64 percent); Defense (63 percent); CIA (57 percent); Social Security Administration (55 percent); and Health and Human Services (54 percent). Justice, Education, the Internal Revenue Service, and Veterans Affairs were the only agencies ranked below 50 percent, but even the IRS earned a 42 percent rating.

Even though the IRS got the lowest approval ratings on Pew's list, research by Brookings Institution scholar Vanessa Williamson in 2017 suggests that Americans believe paying taxes is part of being a good citizen:

The idea that 'Americans hate taxes' has become a truism without the benefit of being true. Instead, Americans see paying taxes as a civic obligation and a political act. To be a taxpayer, Americans believe, is something to be proud of. It is evidence that one is a responsible, contributing, and upstanding member of society, a person worthy of respect in the community and representation in the government.¹⁰²

4. Polarization

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

Industry learned long ago that profits depend on at least some certainty about the future, but certainty is a rare commodity in a federal government beset by polarization at every turn of the budget cycle. Given the rising level of congressional gridlock and the potential for deep cutbacks of the type faced in the 2013 government shutdown, it is difficult to criticize the federal government for recruiting contract and grant employees to fill the holes made by caps, cuts, and freezes.¹⁰³

The polarization has produced a sharp increase in gridlock, bitterness, and delay. It is little wonder that the federal government, under pressure to deliver on promises that Congress

and the president make, might hedge by retaining service contract employees as insurance.¹⁰⁴ Experts may disagree about what has caused the polarization and associated uncertainty, but the resulting delays in legislative action on government budgets have created what the Partnership for Public Service has called a "government disservice":

The end result has been a disservice to the American people, leaving federal agencies to cope with leadership vacuums that impede decision-making as well as funding uncertainties that disrupt services for the public, create inefficiencies, increase costs and make it difficult to plan and innovate. The current climate also has left federal leaders without constructive congressional partners to oversee their work or provide legislative authority to change or drop underperforming programs or embark on new initiatives.¹⁰⁵

The partnership did not just take a stand against polarization but offered an aggressive reform agenda. It included a biennial budget and appropriations process, new oversight committees cochaired by members of the majority and minority, acceleration of the presidential appointments process, and rejection of across-the-board downsizing and budget cuts. In addition, it called out what it described as the "pervasive lack of understanding of and appreciation for the concerns of the executive branch among members of Congress and staff."¹⁰⁶

5. Deadly Adversaries

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

A proper blending of government and industry is impossible without creating effective controls against the troika of "cabal, intrigue, and corruption" that Alexander Hamilton called the "most deadly adversaries of republican government."¹⁰⁷ At least according to recent reports and investigations, all three appear to exist within the blended workforce, the only question being to what extent and effect.

Although most Americans do not know much about the blended workforce, they do know something about scandals. Their biggest complaint about their elected officials in Washington circa 2015 was special interest money and corruption (16 percent); a mix of lying, dishonesty, broken promises, and immorality (11 percent); being out of touch with regular Americans and caring only about their political careers (both 10 percent); not being able to work together (9 percent); violating the Constitution (4 percent); and a mix of being unqualified, bad managers, and idiots (3 percent). Cabal and intrigue did not show up in response to the Pew Research Center's open-ended question, but their synonyms can be found on the list.¹⁰⁸

Gifts to presidential campaigns, favorite charities, and family brands are not the only adversaries of good government. So is the quiet fraud, waste, and abuse that has plagued government since Valley Forge. "Nepotism and favoritism were common means of awarding contracts," writes procurement expert Sandy Keeney about the Revolutionary War. "Deliveries of spoiled meat, axes without heads, one-quarter size blankets, and shoes and saddles that fell apart were commonplace. Congress tried to eliminate fraud through regulation, but the resulting red tape was so burdensome and complex that it paralyzed the system."¹⁰⁹

Fraud, waste, and abuse may be less flagrant today, but they are still easy to see in visible government breakdowns such as the Abramoff lobbying scandal in 2005, the failure to act against Bernard Madoff's Ponzi scheme in 2008, the General Services Administration's Las Vegas conference in 2010, Secret Service misconduct and ineptitude in the early 2010s, and the OPM hack in 2014.¹¹⁰ Fraud, waste, and abuse are also easy to tally in the government loan defaults, benefit overpayments, and uncollected fees, fines, and penalties that reached \$138 billion in 2015, while the "net tax gap" of delinquent taxes was reported at \$400 billion.¹¹¹

Some of the uncollected debt will eventually be collected, but the cabal, intrigue, and corruption that created the opportunities for error continue to take their toll on government performance. As last year's debt falls, even more debt arrives, the total inventory climbs, and Congress and the president squeeze federal administrative systems and freeze federal employment to make up a fraction of the difference. Thus cabal, intrigue, and corruption create pressure to use contract and grant employees in lieu of federal employees based on convenience, even though some of their firms and agencies may well be creating the vicious cycle that weakens the administrative systems, funding, and capacity needed to draw the line between government and industry.

OPTIONS FOR REFORM

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

CONGRESS AND THE PRESIDENT are fully aware of the many pressures that might tip the blended workforce toward contract and grant reform. They have worked toward reform year after year, decade after decade, and have held one hearing after another promising reform. The result of this piecemeal effort has been inevitable: Congress and the president have made progress on many of the problems on the GAO's high-risk list, but it keeps growing as other departments and agencies follow past practices.

There are still deep divisions along party lines on major reforms, especially given polarization. But there is also a growing realization that the federal government is broken. Contract firms justly complain about the federal hierarchy and paperwork burdens, grant agencies

31 -
THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

struggle to manage contracts under multiple layers of rules, and federal employee unions decry the understaffing highlighted throughout this paper.

If the goal is a comprehensive package designed to improve the performance of the blended workforce performance, reformers can start their bipartisan conversations by reading the final reports of Paul Volcker's 1989 and 2003 reports on the state of the public service and his recent remarks on the state of the public service today:

We depend on government in so many ways, often unseen and unrealized. But one can't help but conclude upon seeing our institutions at work—or, more accurately, not working to their fullest potential—that we need to make some fixes. These institutions, from the UN and the World Bank, to our federal, state, and local governments for that matter—are tools that can improve people's lives. We need them to run well. We have seen what happens when insufficient attention is given to understanding and mastering the basics of execution—the botched launch of healthcare.gov, the gaming of the veterans' medical scheduling system, and, of course, the failure of the financial regulatory system to prevent unacceptable levels of private sector risk-taking at the expense of the stability of the economy.¹¹²

Volcker's two commissions did not discuss Washington's blended workforce per se but focused on many of the pressures on the dividing line. They also offered comprehensive proposals for action. They believed that small-scale reforms would not be enough to produce the more effective government Americans would respect. Both commissions believed the time for tinkering was over and would be likely to reach the same conclusion again. THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

ABOUT THE ALLIANCE

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE was launched in 2013 by former Federal Reserve Board chairman Paul A. Volcker to address the challenge of effective execution of public policies and to help rebuild public trust in government. The nonpartisan Alliance works toward that broad objective by partnering with other organizations—academic, business, governmental, and public interest—to strengthen professional education for public service, conduct needed research on government performance, and improve the efficiency and accountability of governmental organization at the federal, state, and local levels.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

PAUL C. LIGHT is the Paulette Goddard Professor of Public Service at New York University's Wagner School of Public Service and special adviser to the chairman at the Volcker Alliance. He joined NYU after serving as vice president and director of governmental studies at the Brookings Institution. He also designed new initiatives for civic engagement as the director of the public policy program at the Pew Charitable Trusts, educated future public servants as professor and associate dean of the University of Minnesota's Hubert H. Humphrey School of Public Affairs, strengthened public management as a senior adviser to Sen. John Glenn and the Senate Governmental Affairs Committee, and oversaw the research agenda at the National Academy of Public Administration.

Prof. Light was also a special consultant to the 1988 National Commission on the Public Service, which was chaired by former Federal Reserve Board chairman Paul A. Volcker, and has advised Volcker on public service issues ever since. He is a frequent commentator on public service; has testified on public service issues before Congress three dozen times over the past two decades; and is the author of twenty-six books, four of which have won book awards. Prof. Light is an internationally recognized expert on government reform, social innovation, and American national government.



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

PAUL A. VOLCKER CHAIRMAN

SHEILA BAIR CHARLES ARTHUR BOWSHER WILLIAM "BILL" BRADLEY THOMAS M. DAVIS WILLIAM H. DONALDSON ANTHONY J. DOWD **TREASURER** ANTHONY FOXX SHIRLEY CLARKE FRANKLIN FRANCIS FUKUYAMA NORMAN J. ORNSTEIN RICHARD RAVITCH WILLIAM RHODES ALICE RIVLIN ANTHONY WALTON

This publication is the product of the Volcker Alliance. It is an important goal of the Alliance to produce reports that contain ideas, proposals, and recommendations for dealing with persistent governance problems in new ways based on independent research and analysis supporting constructive solutions. To stimulate this process and maintain project independence to make such conclusions and recommendations as they deem to be appropriate, these Alliance projects are commissioned to proceed without the requirement of approval of their conclusions and recommendations by the board of directors collectively or by individual members of the board of directors.



STAFF OF THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

THOMAS W. ROSS president

MELISSA AUSTIN EMILY S. BOLTON ELIZABETH DONNELLY KAELEIGH FORSYTH WILLIAM GLASGALL NAOMI MAJOR MELANIE MARTHA MAGGIE MELLO PETER MORRISSEY HENRY OWENS AMY M. SMITHERMAN GAURAV VASISHT



ENDNOTES

I. Dwight D. Eisenhower, Farewell Radio and Television Address to the American People, January 17, 1961, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=12086.

2. Ibid.

3. Donald Trump, Contract with the American Voter, October 22, 2016, https://assets.donaldjtrump.com/_landings/contract/O-TRU-102316-Contractvo2.pdf.

4. American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, "AFSCME Endorses Hillary Clinton for U.S. President," press release, November 1, 2007, http://www.afscme.org/blog/afscme-endorses-hillary-clinton-for-u-s-president, accessed on September 2, 2016, but no longer available. Hillary Clinton appears to be the first presidential candidate to have called for a reduction in contract employees when she promised to cut 500,000 government contractors in November 2007: "There is no evidence that they're saving us money, that they are doing the job that we expect them to do," she told the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees in seeking the organization's endorsement. "There are now more private contractors being paid with our tax dollars than there are civilian and military employees combined. And I don't think most Americans know that. We're just looking at the tip of a very dirty iceberg, and we're going to drill down and we're going to begin to take our government back and put it back in the hands of the American people for a change."

5. The 2005, 2010, and 2015 estimates used in this paper were produced by Nation Analytics, a nonpartisan research firm with extensive experience analyzing federal contract and grant data for use by a wide range of clients and reporting organizations.

Nation Analytics began the compilation of estimates by assembling the records of every federal government contract transaction recorded by the Federal Procurement Data System in 2005, 2010, and 2015. The firm then inspected and repaired the data where possible, and prepared each purchase for further analysis using the US Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) regional input/output model of the US economy. Nation Analytics also reviewed the records of every federal grant award recorded by the Federal Assistance Award Data System in the same years. Working down the list of all grant categories, Nation Analytics included only grants for the purchase of public goods and services such as highway construction, university research, and wetlands protection, and excluded grants for goods and services to individuals such as housing assistance, Medicaid, and price supports.

With these two databases readied, Nation Analytics pushed all the spending into the BEA's RIMS II regional input/output model and estimated the total number of full-time-equivalent contract and grant employees in 2005, 2010, and 2015. Nation Analytics completed the analysis by sorting the results by industry (professional services, manufacturing, etc.), government agency (Defense, Energy, Transportation, etc.), business size (small or not small), and deliverable (product or service).

It is important to note that the BEA RIMS II model estimates the direct, indirect, and induced employment created by any economic activity. The BEA uses the following example to illustrate these three types of employees:

The idea is that an initial change in economic activity results in other rounds of spending – for example, building a new road will lead to increased production of asphalt and concrete. The increased production of asphalt and concrete will lead to more mining. Workers benefiting from these increases will spend more, perhaps by eating out at nicer restaurants or splurging more on entertainment.

In this example, the construction firms hire the direct employees who use the asphalt and concrete to build the new road, while the concrete, asphalt, and mining firms hire the indirect employees who produce the materials, and the restaurant and entertainment firms are induced by increased household spending to hire ancillary employees such as chefs, servers, hosts, ticket takers, and projectionists to meet demand.

In a second BEA example, the federal government buys a new computer system. The purchase would clearly involve the direct labor that assembles the computer. But it also would include indirect labor involved in making the components, such as the computer storage device, computer terminals, semiconductor and related devices, printed circuit assembly, software, and other computer peripheral equipment, as well as the management of that indirect labor. Some of the components would be made by the prime contract employees, while the rest would be made by subcontractor employees. These direct and indirect (both prime and subcontract) employees would be counted in the total workforce needed to produce the goods, be it a computer, fighter airplane, or even office furniture, while all the induced employment produced through household spending would be excluded.

The BEA uses its multipliers to identify these direct and indirect impacts of a final change in demand:

The direct impact relates to the first round of inputs purchased by the final-demand industry. The indirect impact relates to the subsequent rounds of inputs purchased by supporting industries. ... The induced impact relates to the spending of workers whose earnings are affected by a final-demand change. This impact is often called the household-spending effect.

Similarly, firms such as Lockheed Martin hire direct employees to assemble fighter planes; firms such as Northrop Grumman and BAE Systems hire indirect employees to build, program, and test the sophisticated systems that go into the fighter planes; other firms hire even more indirect employees to build subsystems; and the economic effects continue down through the economy until they finally generate the household spending that creates more employment in the community. These household effects may be the product of federal spending and its associated stimulus, but they do not involve federal, contract, or grant employees who work either directly or indirectly producing products or services that the federal government needs.

The BEA's distinction between direct, indirect, and induced employment is central to the estimates of contract and grant employees presented in this paper. Once all the induced employees are removed from the estimates, the remaining numbers of contract and grant employees can be compared against the number of federal employees on an apples-to-apples basis. Stripped of induced employment, the estimates provide a much sharper portrait of the true size of government workforce and its potential reblending. Removing induced employment also acknowledges long-standing concerns about the number of induced employees counted in what this author used to call the "shadow government."

Readers should note that contract and grant spending does produce significant amounts of induced employment. The induced jobs may

not belong in Washington's blended workforce, but they are real products of contract and grant spending nonetheless. In 2015, for example, the 3.7 million employees supported by direct and indirect contracts spent enough of their earnings to create an estimated 3.2 million jobs, while the 1.6 million employees supported by direct or indirect grants spent enough to create 1.2 million jobs. If not a recognized tool of economic stimulus per se, Washington's blended workforce produces significant effects well beyond its government work.

6. Lauren Carroll, "Sean Spicer's Claim of a 'Dramatic Expansion in the Federal Workforce' Is Exaggerated," PolitiFact, January 24, 2017.

7. The CBO initially estimated that the stimulus would cost \$787 billion but later raised the total to \$831 billion. Congressional Budget Office, *Estimated Impact of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act on Employment and Economic Output from October 2011 Through December 2011*, Feb. 22, 2012, 1. For trends in Iraq and Afghanistan, see Heidi M. Peters, Moshe Schwartz, and Lawrence Kapp, *Department of Defense Contractor and Troop Levels in Iraq and Afghanistan: 2007–2017*, Congressional Research Service, CRS Report No. 44116, April 28, 2017.

8. Vern K. Baxter, *Labor and Politics in the U.S. Postal Service* (New York: Plenum Press, 1994), 169–170. The number of Postal Service employees rose as a new personnel accounting system was implemented.

9. Lawrence J. Korb, Laura Conley, and Alex Rothman, A Return to Responsibility: What President Obama and Congress Can Learn About Defense Budgets from Past Presidents, Center for American Progress, July 2011, 20.

10. David E. Lockwood and George Siehl, *Military Base Closures: A Historical Review from 1988 to 1995*, Congressional Research Service, CRS Order Code 97-350 F, updated October 18, 2004.

II. George H. W. Bush, Address Accepting the Presidential Nomination at the Republican National Convention in New Orleans, August 18, 1988, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=25955.

12. Ibid.

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

13. George H. W. Bush, Remarks to Members of the Senior Executive Service, January 26, 1989, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=16628. These were the president's first public remarks after his inaugural address.

14. For verification, see Glenn Kessler, "Cutting the Defense Budget," Washington Post, January 25, 2011.

15. William J. Clinton, Statement on Signing the Federal Workforce Restructuring Act of 1994, March 30, 1994, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=49886.

16. The term *reinventing government* refers to David Osborne and Ted Gaebler's best-selling *Reinventing Government: How the Entrepreneurial Spirit Is Transforming the Public Sector* (New York: Plume, 1993). Although the book had a significant impact in shaping the so-called new public management, reinventing government turned out to be very difficult to sustain from administration to administration. My analysis of the Minnesota case studies used in the book showed that one-third were dead by the time the paperback edition of the book was published in 1995, suggesting the ephemeral nature of innovation in government.

17. For the history of the 1993 and 1995 base closings and realignments, see David E. Lockwood and George Siehl, *Military Base Closures: A Historical Review from 1988 to 1995*, Congressional Research Service, CRS Order Code 97-350 F, updated October 18, 2004. For the history of the Government Performance and Results Act as "a prime example of the difficulty of dealing with federal management as a government-wide strategy and a set of generic activities and requirements," see Beryl A. Radin, "The Government Performance and Results Act and the Tradition of Federal Management Reform: Square Pegs in Round Holes?" *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 10, no. 1 (January 2000).

18. Most of this discussion is from Paul C. Light, "Pressure to Grow," Government Executive, October 1, 2000.

19. For the effects of presidents Bush and Obama's first-year legislation on subsequent budget problems, see Marc Labonte and Andrew Hanna, *The Impact of Major Legislation on Budget Deficits: 2001 to 2009*, Congressional Research Service, CRS Report No. 41134, March 23, 2010.

20. Barack Obama, Commencement Address at the University of Michigan in Ann Arbor, May 1, 2010, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=87839.

21. Russell Berman, "Why Trump Wants to Ground the Next Air Force One," *The Atlantic*, December 6, 2016. Trump did not criticize the profit motive but later called Boeing's margin "ridiculous. ... I think Boeing is doing a little bit of a number. We want Boeing to make a lot of money, but not that much money."

22. Tae Kim, "Lockheed Martin Shares Fall After Trump Targets F-35 Program's Cost Again During New Conference," CNBC, January 11, 2017, https://www.cnbc.com/2017/01/11/lockheed-martin-shares-fall-after-trump-targets-f-35-programs-cost-again-during-press-conference. html

23. Newt Gingrich, "Trump's Historic Contract with the American Voter," Fox News, October 28, 2016.

24. Republican Candidates Debate in Houston, Texas, February 25, 2016, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, The American Presidency Project,



http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=111634.

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

25. Republican Candidates Debate in Detroit, Michigan, March 3, 2016, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=111711.

26. Donald J. Trump, Memorandum on the Federal Civilian Employee Hiring Freeze, January 23, 2017, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=122514.

27. White House Briefing by Sean Spicer–Full Transcript, *Congressional Quarterly*, January 23, 2017, http://www.cbsnews.com/news/sean-spicer-press-conference-transcript-jan-23-2017/.

28. For a discussion of the president's authority to impose a freeze in lieu of statutory action, see "President Trump Freezes Federal Civil Service Hiring," Congressional Research Service, Legal Sidebar, January 26, 2017, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/freeze.pdf.

29. Michael D. Shear and Eric Lichtblau, "'A Sense of Dread' for Civil Servants Shaken by Trump Transition," *The New York Times*, February 11, 2017.

30. Donald J. Trump, Executive Order 13781–Comprehensive Plan for Reorganizing the Executive Branch, March 13, 2017, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=123522.

31. Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget, *America First: A Budget Blueprint to Make America Great Again*, March 16, 2017, **2**. For an analysis of the budget, see Committee for a Responsible Federal Budget, "President Trump's FY 2018 'Skinny Budget," March 16, 2017.

32. Annalyn Kurtz, "Trump's Budget Could Cut 200,000 Federal Jobs," *Fortune*, March 16, 2017. Rivlin's comments were quoted in Eric Katz, "Trump's Budget Cuts Could Lead to Federal Employee Layoffs, Furloughs," *Government Executive*, February 28, 2017. For further discussion of employee morale, see Lisa Rein, "Federal Workers Grow Increasingly Nervous about Trump's Proposed Budget Cuts," *Washington Post*, March 1, 2017.

33. Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget, *America First: A Budget Blueprint to Make America Great Again*, March 16, 2017, 3. For an analysis of the budget, see Committee for a Responsible Federal Budget, "President Trump's FY 2018 'Skinny Budget," March 16, 2017.

34. Press Briefing by OMB Director Mick Mulvaney on a Comprehensive Plan for Reforming the Federal Government and Reducing the Federal Civilian Workforce, April 11, 2017, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=123855.

35. Ibid.

36. Donald J. Trump, Memorandum on the Federal Civilian Employee Hiring Freeze, January 23, 2017, John T. Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=122514.

37. Donald J. Trump, Brief Remarks, March 13, 2017, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/report.php?pid=158.

38. John T. Bennett, "Is Trump Review Just Al Gore Reinventing Government 2.0?" Roll Call, March 15, 2017.

39. USGovernmentSpending.com, "Government Spending Details," http://www.usgovernmentspending.com/year_spending_2018USbn_18bs 2n_3031_051#usgs302.

40. Max Fisher, "Stephen K. Bannon's CPAC Comments, Annotated and Explained," The New York Times, February 24, 2017.

41. Press Briefing by OMB Director Mick Mulvaney on a Comprehensive Plan for Reforming the Federal Government and Reducing the Federal Civilian Workforce, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=123855.

42. Donald J. Trump, Executive Order 13777–Enforcing the Regulatory Reform Agenda, February 24, 2017, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=123412.

43. For a discussion of the bill and other rollback techniques, see Emmarie Huetteman, "How Republicans Will Try to Roll Back Obama Regulations," *The New York Times*, January 30, 2017.

44. The order did not prohibit contracts with these bidders but created a process for investigating whether the violations were willful, serious, and repetitive, and for listing the findings on a government-wide database.

45. Donald J. Trump, Remarks on Signing Legislation Under the Congressional Review Act, John Woolley and Gerhard Peters, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/?pid=123645.



46. Sen. Elizabeth Warren, *Breach of Contract: How Federal Contractors Fail American Workers on the Taxpayer's Dime* (US Senate, Office of Sen. Elizabeth Warren, March 17, 2017). The report was prepared by Warren's staff and did not bear the imprimatur of any Senate committee or subcommittee.

47. See note 45.

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

48. For a discussion of the definitions of inherently governmental and commercially available functions, see Steven L. Schooner, "Competitive Sourcing Policy: More Sail than Rudder," *Public Contract Law Journal* 33, no. 2 (2004).

49. For the background on OPM's decision to stop tracking time-to-hire statistics, see Jack Moore, "OPM's Focus in Hiring Reform Shifting from Speed to Quality," *Federal News Radio*, March 26, 2014.

50. Andrew Chamberlain, "How Long Does It Take to Hire? Interview Duration in 25 Countries," *Glassdoor*, August 9, 2017, https://www.glass-door.com/research/time-to-hire-in-25-countries/. See also Kellie Ell, "It's Taking Longer Than Ever to Get Hired, Glassdoor Survey Shows," *USA Today*, August 9, 2017.

51. United States Senate, Committee on Homeland Security and Government Affairs, *Federal Hiring Process Improvement Act of 2010*, 111th Cong., 2nd sess., 115th Cong., 1st sess., 2011, S. Rep. 111-184, 2.

52. Amanda Cuda, "Federal Hiring Reform Marches On," Assessment Services Review, August 31, 2011, http://asr.ipma-hr.org/2011/08/federal-hiring-reform-marches-on/.

53. The Partnership for Public Service and LinkedIn, *Post and Pursue: Improving Federal Hiring Using Data and Targeted Recruitment*, April 2017, https://ourpublicservice.org/publications/download.php?id=1750.

54. Linda E. Rix, "The Irrational Escalation of Commitment to USAJOBS ... And Other Reasons Why the Federal Hiring Process is a Deeply Broken Mess," prepared for the US Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Government Affairs Subcommittee on Regulatory Affairs, *Improving the USAJOBS Website*, April 12, 2016, 4-5.

55. Max Stier, "Written Statement of Max Stier," prepared for the US Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Government Affairs Subcommittee on Regulatory Affairs, *Improving the USAJOBS Website*, April 12, 2016, 4.

56. Jeff Neal, "What Happened to All of the Young Federal Employees?" ChiefHRO.com, July 10, 2014, https://chiefhro.com/2014/07/10/ what-happened-to-all-of-the-young-federal-employees. Neal produced a second report on the problem, "The Ticking Time Bomb in the Federal Workforce," March 2, 2016, https://chiefhro.com/2016/03/02/the-ticking-time-bomb-in-the-federal-workforce/.

57. Office of Personnel Management, Federal Employment Reports: Full-Time Permanent Age Distributions, September 2016.

58. The National Commission on the Public Service, Urgent Business for America: Revitalizing the Federal Government for the 21st Century, January 2003, 9.

59. Henry Romero, "Grade Inflation: Does It Matter?" Government Executive, September 14, 2014.

60. Paul C. Light, Thickening Government: Federal Hierarchy and the Diffusion of Accountability (Washington: Brookings Institution Press, 1995).

61. Government Accountability Office, Distribution of Performance Ratings Across the Federal Government, 2013, GAO-16-520R (2016).

62. Suman Bhattacharyya, "The Federal Government Says 99% of Its Workers Are Doing a Great Job," *The Fiscal Times*, June 13, 2016. The story refers to data collected by the Government Accountability Office, *Distribution of Performance Ratings Across the Federal Government*, 2013, GAO-16-520R (2016).

63. Government Accountability Office, Results Oriented Management: OPM Needs to Do More to Ensure Meaningful Distinctions Are Made in SES Ratings and Performance Awards, GAO-15-189 (2015).

64. For a rebuttal of this argument, see Max Stier, "Five Myths about Federal Workers," Washington Post, December 5, 2010.

65. Government Accountability Office, Federal Workforce: Improved Supervision and Better Use of Probationary Periods Are Needed to Address Substandard Employee Performance, GAO-15-191 (2015).

66. Partnership for Public Service and Grant Thornton, Embracing Change: CHCOs Rising to the Challenge of an Altered Landscape, May 2014, 15.

67. Eric Katz, "The 'Chilling Effect' of Forced Reassignments at Trump's Interior Dept.," Government Executive, July 20, 2017.

68. Donald F. Kettl, *Escaping Jurassic Government: How to Recover America's Lost Commitment to Competence* (Washington: Brookings Institution Press, 2016), 121.

69. National Academy of Public Administration, No Time to Wait: Building a Public Service for the 21st Century, (Washington: National Academy of Public Administration, 2017), 3.

70. Government Accountability Office, High-Risk Series, 61.

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

71. Government Accountability Office, High-Risk Services: An Update, GAO-01-263 (2001), 8.

72. National Commission on the Public Service, Leadership for America: Rebuilding the Public Service, 1989, 1.

73. Government Accountability Office, High-Risk Series, 61.

74. Office of Personnel Management, Federal Employee Viewpoint Survey: Empowering Employees. Inspiring Change., 2017, https://www.fedview.opm.gov/.

75. Partnership for Public Service, *The Best Places to Work in the Federal Government: Overall Findings and Private Sector Comparison*, 2016, http://bestplacestowork.org/BPTW/analysis/. The partnership's private sector comparisons came from surveys conducted by Sirota, a private research firm that is now part of Mercer Consulting. According to the partnership, the findings were derived from multiple random-sample surveys totaling 4.7 million employees from 120 organizations.

76. Paul Chassy and Scott H. Amey, Bad Business: Billions of Taxpayer Dollars Wasted on Hiring Contractors, Project on Government Oversight, September 2011.

77. Ibid., 13–14.

78. Ibid., 18.

79. Professional Services Council, "POGO Report *Bad Business* Weak on Analysis, Practice Value," news release, September 15, 2011, available on request from Paul Light.

80. Chris Edwards, "Reforming Federal Worker Pay and Benefits," Downsizing the Federal Government Project, Cato Institute, September 20, 2017, https://www.downsizinggovernment.org/federal-worker-pay.

81. Congressional Budget Office, Comparing the Compensation of Federal and Private-Sector Employees, 2011–2015, April 25, 2017, 11.

82. David Van Slyke and Alasdair Roberts, "Good Intentions, Bad Idea," *Government Executive*, August 15, 2007. No one is quite sure where the test came from, but it is often linked to the Clinton administration's reinventing government campaign or the George W. Bush administration's privatization effort.

83. Valerie Ann Bailey Grasso, *Circular A-76 and the Moratorium on DOD Competitions: Background and Issues for Congress*, Congressional Research Service, CRS Report No. 40854, January 16, 2013.

84. Al Gore and the National Performance Review, From Red Tape to Results: Creating a Government That Works Better and Costs Less, 1993, iii-iv.

85. Quoted in Charles S. Clark, "Reinventing Government-Two Decades Later," Government Executive, April 26, 2013.

86. Steve Kelman, "Washington 's Fear Industry," *Federal Computer Week*, September 16, 2007, https://fcw.com/articles/2007/09/16/ kelman-washington146s-fear-industry.aspx. Kelman oversaw the downsizing of the acquisition work as administrator of the Office of Federal Procurement Policy during the Clinton administration. His description of the industry is worth considering in its whole: "This industry regards career civil servants as slothful and/or venal, and it advocates a management philosophy closer to that of factory bosses from the age of the robber barons than to the direction in which the U.S. workplace outside government is heading: Use criticism and attacks to beat down employees or managers, and scare them into shape. The way to get government employees and managers to perform is to make them terrified that if they make a mistake, they will be exposed."

87. Paul C. Light, Monitoring Government: Inspectors General and the Diffusion of Accountability (Washington: Brookings Institution Press, 1993), 224.

88. Al Gore and the National Performance Review, From Red Tape to Results: Creating a Government that Works Better and Costs Less, 12.

89. House of Representatives, Committee on Government Reform, Minority Staff Special Investigations Division, *The Politicization of Inspectors General*, January 7, 2005, available on request from Paul Light.

90. Anne Joseph O'Connell, "Vacant Offices: Delays in Staffing Top Agency Positions," *Southern California Law Review* 82, no. 5 (2009): 37. Reagan filled his inspector general vacancies in 224 days on average, George H.W. Bush in 337, and George W. Bush in 280, while Clinton filled his in 453 days.

O'Connell also shows that inspector general posts are among the last presidential jobs to be filled. From 1981 to 2016 nominees for inspector general and chief financial officer posts waited 104 and 111 days, respectively, from nomination to confirmation, compared with nominees

for general counsel and other assistant secretary-rank posts at 84 days and 79 days, respectively. See O'Connell, "Staffing Federal Agencies: Lessons from 1981-2016," Brookings Institution, April 17, 2017. O'Connell's data show that inspector general nominees have faced higher than average failure rates and confirmation delays than other presidential appointees over the decades.

91. Anne Joseph O'Connell, "Shortening Agency and Judicial Vacancies Through Filibuster Reform? An Examination of Confirmation Rates and Delays from 1981 to 2014," *Duke Law Journal* 64, no. 8 (May 2015): 1647, http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/dlj/vol64/iss8/5.

92. Gillian E. Metzger, "Appointments, Innovation, and the Judicial-Political Divide," *Duke Law Journal* 64, no. 8 (May 2015): 1624, http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/dlj/vol64/iss8/4/.

93. Anne Joseph O'Connell, "Shortening Agency and Judicial Vacancies Through Filibuster Reform? An Examination of Confirmation Rates and Delays from 1981 to 2014," *Duke Law Journal* 64, no. 8 (May 2015): 1661, http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/dlj/vol64/iss8/5.

94. G. Calvin Mackenzie, "Nasty & Brutish Without Being Short: the State of the Presidential Appointment Process," *Brookings Review*, March 1, 2001, https://www.brookings.edu/articles/nasty-brutish-without-being-short-the-state-of-the-presidential-appointment-process/.

95. Anne Joseph O'Connell, "Shortening Agency and Judicial Vacancies Through Filibuster Reform? An Examination of Confirmation Rates and Delays from 1981 to 2014," *Duke Law Journal* 64, no. 8 (May 2015): 1672, http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/dlj/vol64/iss8/5.

96. These counts are based on coding of the *Federal Yellow Book* phone books, published quarterly by Leadership Directories Inc. The *Federal Yellow Book*, which before the mid-1990s was published only in print, is also available online. I have found the *Yellow Book* directories to be much more accurate than the congressional inventories contained in the *Plum Book* of presidential policy positions released before every presidential election. The *Plum Book* is only as accurate as the selected information forwarded from the public affairs or management offices within each department and agency, while the leadership directories are collected and carefully validated to match every phone number in each department and agency phone book. Further information is available at https://www.leadershipdirectories.com/Products/LeadershipinPrint/Government/FederalYellowBook.

97. For the interview transcript, see Chris Cillizza, "Donald Trump's A+/C+ Presidency," Washington Post, February 28, 2017.

98. For further analysis of this ambivalence, see Paul C. Light, *What Americans Want from Government Reform*, Volcker Alliance, December 2016.

99. Unless otherwise noted, all the data in this section come from the Pew Research Center, *Beyond Distrust: How Americans View Their Government*, November 23, 2015.

100. Gallup Poll, "Americans Say Federal Gov't Wastes Over Half of Every Dollar," September 17, 2014, http://www.gallup.com/poll/176102/ americans-say-federal-gov-wastes-cents-dollar.aspx. According to the poll, Americans estimated that the federal government wasted 51 cents on the dollar.

101. For further analysis of this ambivalence, see Paul C. Light, *What Americans Want from Government Reform*, Volcker Alliance, December 2016.

102. Vanessa S. Williamson, Read My Lips: Why Americans Are Proud to Pay Taxes (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2017), xi.

103. For the classic statement on making decisions by "muddling through," see Charles E. Lindblom, "The Science of 'Muddling Through," Public Administration Review 19, no. 2 (Spring 1959).

104. Thomas E. Mann and Norman J. Ornstein, "Finding the Common Good in an Era of Dysfunctional Governance," Daedalus, Spring 2013.

105. Partnership for Public Service, *Government Disservice: Overcoming Washington Dysfunction to Improve Congressional Stewardship of the Executive Branch*, September 2015, 37.

106. Ibid., 7.

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

107. Alexander Hamilton, "The Federalist Papers, No. 68: The Mode of Electing the President," *Independent Journal*, March 12, 1788, http://ava-lon.law.yale.edu/subject_menus/fed.asp.

108. Pew Research Center, Beyond Distrust: How Americans View Their Government, November 23, 2015, 194.

109. Sandy Keeney, "The Foundations of Government Contracting," Journal of Contract Management 43, no. 3 (Summer 2007): 8.

110. Paul C. Light, Vision + Action = Faithful Execution, Volcker Alliance, December 2015.

III. For the definition of improper payments and the 2003–2015 estimates, see Nicholas Pacifico, *Federal Improper Payments Are Significant, Costing Taxpayers Billions*, Project on Government Oversight, July 12, 2016. The net tax gap of delinquent taxes was explained and reported by Timothy M. Todd, "IRS Issues \$406 Billion Net Tax Gap Estimate," *Forbes*, April 29, 2016. For further information on improper payments, see



Garrett Hatch and Meredith A. Levine, *Improper Payments and Recovery Audits: Legislation, Implementation, and Analysis*, Congressional Research Service, CRS Report No. 42878, October 18, 2013. For the most recent improper payment figures and a set of helpful charts, see https:// paymentaccuracy.gov.

112. Miguel Forbes, "Paul Volcker Launches Volcker Alliance," Forbes, May 12, 2015.

The Volcker Alliance

560 Lexington Avenue, Suite 16B New York, NY 10022 (646) 343-0155

info@volckeralliance.org | www.volckeralliance.org